IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2008-KA-00747-COA

BRENDA LIDDELL

APPELLANT

APPELLEE

vs.

i.

Ł.

ì.

İ

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of this Court may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal:

Brenda Liddell, Appellant;

Wilbert Johnson, Esq., trial attorney;

E. Daniel Martin, Laurel Blue, and Phillip W. Broadhead, Esqs., Attorneys for the

Appellant, Criminal Appeals Clinic, University of Mississippi School of Law, and Leslie S.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

ISSUE ONE:

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT FAILED TO SUSTAIN DEFENSE COUNSEL'S CONTINUING OBJECTION TO THE ADMISSION OF HIGHLY PREJUDICIAL TESTIMONY ALLEGING PRIOR DRUG TRANSACTIONS, AND WHEN THE TRIAL COURT DETERMINED THAT A LIMITING INSTRUCTION GIVEN AFTER THE PREJUDICIAL TESTIMONY WAS SUFFICIENT TO PROTECT THE APPELLANT FROM UNFAIR PREJUDICE.

ISSUE TWO:

WHETHER THE APPELLANT WAS DENIED HER SIXTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL DUE TO HER ATTORNEY'S FAILURE TO TIMELY RAISE OBJECTIONS TO IMPROPER STATEMENTS, HIS INSUFFICIENT ADVICE TO THE APPELLANT REGARDING WHETHER SHE SHOULD TESTIFY, AND THE CUMULATIVE PREJUDICIAL EFFECT OF DEFENSE COUNSEL'S DEFICIENT PERFORMANCE AT TRIAL.

ISSUE THREE:

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT FAILED TO SUSTAIN APPELLANT'S MOTION TO SET ASIDE THE JURY'S VERDICT AS LEGALLY INSUFFICIENT, OR, IN THE ALTERNATIVE, FOR FAILING TO GRANT THE MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL AS THE JURY'S VERDICT WAS CONTRARY TO THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

STATEMENT OF INCARCERATION

Brenda Liddell is presently incarcerated in the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This honorable Court has jurisdiction of this case pursuant to Article 6, Section 146 of the Mississippi Constitution and Miss. Code Ann. § 99-35-101 (Supp. 2001).

STATEMENT IN SUPPORT OF ORAL ARGUMENT

This case is very fact-intensive and the Appellant, through counsel, would respectfully request this Court to grant oral argument to present conflicts in the rulings of the trial court based on the evidence and testimony presented at trial that are alleged by the Appellant to be erroneous.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a case that turned on discrepant testimony by a paid government informant who had a personal vendetta against the Appellant, Brenda Liddell (hereinafter "Ms. Liddell"). Based on this inconsistent and substantially contradicted testimony by a "confidential informant," in a case where the judge found that "minimally speaking a prima facie case [was] established" by the prosecution (T. II. 100), Ms. Liddell was found guilty by a jury after only four minutes of deliberation. (CP. 70, RE. ____). Considering the number of obvious discrepancies in the confidential informant's testimony, it is likely that Ms. Liddell was convicted based on the significant amount of prejudicial testimony that was admitted during trial regarding irrelevant and highly prejudicial prior drug transactions alleged between the confidential informant and Ms. Liddell. Had this improper testimony been excluded from the prosecution's case-in-chief, it is very likely that the jury would have reached a verdict of "not guilty."

On December 7, 2006, Agent Louis Hawkins (hereinafter "Agent Hawkins") of the Mississippi Bureau of Narcotics (hereinafter "MBN") sent a confidential informant into an area of

-2-

Tunica, Mississippi, called Clark Cove; this area was considered a problem area for drugs. (T. I. 26). Agent Hawkins arranged for Dustin Purser (hereinafter "Confidential Informant" or "CI"), a drug user and convicted felon, to be a CI for the MBN. (T. I. 68, 71). Agent Hawkins met Dustin Purser while Purser was in jail. (T. I. 69). As a confidential informant, Purser was paid a monetary fee contingent upon his actually purchasing drugs. (T. I. 69). The CI claimed to be familiar with Clark Cove as he had been there many times before in order to buy drugs for himself. (T. I. 69). He also claimed that he knew Ms. Liddell and the people in Clark Cove personally from these alleged drug transactions. (T. II. 105). As a CI, Purser was able to choose the person targeted, and he would be paid according to the amount of drugs he was able to buy. (T. I. 70). He was not required to buy drugs from a specific person, but he would not be paid if he did not buy drugs on that particular day. (T. I. 69).

Before going to Clark Cove, Agent Hawkins met the Confidential Informant at a "pre-buy" location. (T. I. 49). At the pre-buy meeting, Agent Hawkins and Agent Maeena Cody (hereinafter "Agent Cody") alleged that they searched the CI and his vehicle for drugs to ensure he had no drugs with him before going to buy drugs for the MBN. The CI was then equipped with a covert video camera, a digital audio recorder, a body transmitter, and \$150 dollars of state funds in order to gather evidence on a drug transaction. (T. I. 26). Agent Hawkins and Agent Cody then followed the CI to an area near Clark Cove and waited for the CI to make a transaction. (T. I. 27).

The night before the alleged transaction, the Confidential Informant called Ms. Liddell to set up a transaction to buy drugs. (T. I. 49). Several people resided or spent a great deal of time at 1002 Clark Cove and the surrounding trailers, including Ms. Liddell, John "John L." Clark, Ruby Gooden, Mable White, Marlo Wade, Melvin "Pork Chop" Trippe, and Catherine "Doll" Bogan. (T. II. 105-06). Michael Simmons lived in his vehicle right outside the trailer. (T. II. 106). Although Ms.

1...

İ.

Liddell lived at 1002 Clark Cove, the trailer was actually owned by her current husband, John Clark. From the CI's own experience, he considered the entire area to be a "known dope trade." (T. I. 78).

When the Confidential Informant arrived at 1002 Clark Cove, Ms. Liddell answered the door to the trailer. (T. I. 51). The CI entered the trailer and placed the \$150 on a counter in the trailer. (T. I. 50). He then went outside and sat in his truck. (T. I. 51). Ms. Liddell and Catherine Bogan (hereinafter "Ms. Bogan") came outside the house; Ms. Bogan threw a container of crack cocain onto the front lawn. (T. I. 53). The CI retrieved the container, checked its contents, spoke with Ms. Liddell about the availability of other drugs, then left the premises. (T. I. 54). The CI returned to the pre-buy location and gave the container to Agent Hawkins, who later put the container into a safe to which five or six officers had access. (T. I. 62).

,

1

÷.

1.

ι.

Î.

Ī.

Many people were present when the Confidential Informant bought drugs at Clark Cove. (T. I. 74-74). The CI never exchanged money with a specific person, and Ms. Bogan was the person who threw the container of crack to the CI in the front lawn. (T. I. 53). Despite no direct evidence against Ms. Liddell, she was indicted for the sale of a controlled substance on August 15, 2007. (CP. 5, RE. ___).

Ms. Liddell was indicted on sale of a controlled substance (CP. 5, RE. ___), and then she was tried before a jury in the Circuit Court of Tunica County on April 4, 2009. (T. I. 1). The State of Mississippi led the prosecution's case with an opening statement in which she told the jury that the evidence would show that the Confidential Informant for the MBN went to Ms. Liddell's house on December 7, 2006, that the CI paid \$150.00 to Ms. Liddell, and that Ms. Bogan then threw some crack cocaine out to the CI. (T. I. 3-4). In addition, the Prosecution's opening statement unequivocally told the jury that this CI had bought drugs from Ms. Liddell multiple times before the day listed in the indictment. (T. I. 4).

-4-

Immediately following the prosecution's opening statement, however, Ms. Liddell's attorney requested that he be allowed to reserve his opening statement for the beginning of the defense's casein-chief. (T. I. 5). Before the State began its case-in-chief, defense counsel requested a bench conference at which point he asked the judge to instruct the State's witnesses not to refer to any prior transactions with Ms. Liddell. (T. I. 7-8). In response, the prosecution argued that such testimony was admissible under *Mississippi Rule of Evidence* (hereinafter "*MRE*") *404(b)* to show a "common plan." (T. I. 9). Defense counsel countered that this type of testimony is not allowed under *MRE 404(b)*, or, in the alternative, that the testimony should be excluded as unduly prejudicial under *MRE 403*. (T. I. 10, 13-14). Weighing both sides' arguments, and noting defense counsel's continuing objection, the judge first required the State to draft a limiting instruction regarding the proper use of such testimony by the jury. (T. I. 17-18).

Following the judge's ruling on the prior transaction testimony, a conference was held in the judge's chambers during which Officer Leonard Dotson testified that juror number ten and Ms. Liddell knew each other. (T. I. 19). Upon hearing this, the juror, Eddie Gray, was brought into chambers where he testified that he did know Ms. Liddell, that he did not indicate this when questioned during voir dire, and that his failure to answer was due to a lack of attentiveness. (T. I. 20-21). As a follow up to the judge's questioning of Mr. Gray, defense counsel asked whether Mr. Gray "could be a fair juror in this case[,]" to which he responded with a yes. (T. I. 21). However, despite Mr. Gray's belief that he could be a fair juror, the judge dismissed Mr. Gray and replaced him with the first alternate juror. (T. I. 21-22).

÷

i i

ι.

11

i

Following the replacement of Mr. Gray, the State called Agent Hawkins of the MBN-as its first witness. (T. I. 23). Agent Hawkins testified that on of December 7, 2006, he and Agent Cody

were involved in an operation in which they used the Confidential Informant to buy drugs from an area known as Clark Cove in Tunica County. (T. I. 26, 39). Agent Hawkins testified that prior to the undercover buy, the CI was subjected to a pre-buy search of both his person and his vehicle. (T. I. 26). Agent Hawkins stated that Agent Cody searched the CI while Agent Hawkins searched the vehicle, and that no drugs were found. (T. I. 26). However, on cross, Agent Hawkins admitted that the CI was not strip searched, nor was his mouth specifically searched, nor did he see the CI remove his shoes or socks. (T. I. 36-38).

ç

¢

i,

4

i s

1.

After describing the pre-buy search, Agent Hawkins gave testimony as to what he heard through the audio surveillance of the Confidential Informant; however, after several statements given by Agent Hawkins "based on [his] experience and training . . ." defense counsel objected on the ground that Agent Hawkins had not been qualified as an expert. (T. I. 28-29). After the judge sustained defense counsel's objection, the prosecutor continued to question Agent Hawkins as a lay witness, at which point she had Agent Hawkins identify State's Exhibit "A" as being the audio and video surveillance from the undercover buy. (T. I. 31). After Agent Hawkins briefly explained how he recognized the exhibit, the State moved to offer the exhibit into evidence. Defense counsel objected on the grounds that the State had not presented sufficient chain of custody testimony. (T. I. 32). Although the judge did not specifically rule on the objection, the State continued questioning Agent Hawkins about the chain of custody, and the judge asked the State to continue its chain of custody testimony up to the point of trial, after which point State's exhibit S-A was admitted. (T. I. 33, Exh. S-A, RE.). Finally, the State had Agent Hawkins give some chain of custody testimony about States' Exhibits B-1 and B-2, which he identified as the crack cocaine that the CI relinquished to him on December 7, 2006 (Exh. S-B-1, RE. ___), as well as the container in which the crack was located (Exh. S-B-2, RE. ___). (T. I. 33-34).

-6-

On cross, Agent Hawkins testified that he did not know who owned the trailer located at 1002 Clark Cove, that he did not know who or how many people lived at that location, and that he did not know under whose name the utilities for that residence were listed. (T. I. 41). In addition, Agent Hawkins testified that the Confidential Informant used on December 7, 2006, had previously told him that someone had sold the CI "bad dope." (T. I. 46). On re-direct, the State asked Agent Hawkins if the CI had told him who had sold the CI the "bad dope," to which he answered "Ms. Liddell." (T. I. 48).

,

÷

i .

ι.

;

11

The next witness called by the State was the Confidential Informant. (T. I. 48). The testified that he was working as a confidential informant on December 7, 2006, and that he was going to buy drugs in Clark Cove in Tunica, which is somewhere that he had previously gone to buy drugs. (T. I. 48-50). After the CI testified about the transaction in question, the prosecution asked him "[h]ad you ever purchased drugs at that . . . place before from Ms. Liddell?" (T. I. 52). After defense counsel's objection was overruled, the CI responded with a "yes," after which he described "how those transactions normally took place[.]" (T. I. 52-53). After stating that his prior transactions with Ms. Liddell usually involved placing the money on the counter, and the drugs being delivered by a "runner," the CI testified that, on the day in question, he had placed the money on the counter, gone outside, and then Ms. Liddell and Ms. Bogan both came to the door, but that Ms. Bogan threw the drugs to him. (T. I. 53).

Following this line of questioning, the State played the surveillance video for the jury. Although defense counsel had requested that the video be shown in its entirety, the State told the judge at some point that the remaining video was irrelevant, at which point the judge asked defense counsel whether "you have some irrelevant part of the video that you wish to be seen?" (T. I. 59). Rather than insisting that the remainder of the video be played, defense counsel said no. (T. I. 60). Similarly, although defense counsel requested that the State play the audio surveillance in its entirety, the prosecutor simply turned it off at a certain point, and defense counsel failed to object. (T. I. 64, 67).

On cross examination, the Confidential Informant testified that the MBN paid him based on the amount of the drugs that he was able to purchase; however, he also testified that he knew in advance of the buy how much he would be paid. (T. I. 70). Then the CI testified that during the prebuy search on December 7, 2006, he was given "[a] complete search. Shoes off, searched the car completely." (T. I. 73). In addition, the CI stated that the agents had him hold his tongue out while they searched his mouth, and he testified that Agent Hawkins was present when Agent Cody had the CI remove his shoes and socks. (T. I. 76). Turning to the transaction in question, the CI testified that both Ms. Liddell and Ms. Bogan were present, that there was an unidentified third person in the yard, and that at least one other person from whom the CI had purchased drugs in the past was in Clark Cove on the day in question. (T. I. 74-75). In addition, the CI admitted that he only went into the kitchen and the living room, meaning that he did not go into the bedroom, the bathroom, or any other rooms that the trailer might have had. (T. I. 76).

Finally, in a line of impeachment questioning, defense counsel was able to extract testimony from the Confidential Informant in which he admitted that, while he saw both Ms. Liddell and Ms. Bogan on the porch after the drugs were thrown out, he was not sure who actually threw them. Following a statement by the CI that all of Clark Cove "was a known dope trade[,]" the following transpired between defense counsel and the CI:

Q: Was she a runner?

A: Who? Brenda?

Q: Yes.

i.

1.

í

t J

A: No.

Q: Okay. But you, now, when you, when this package was thrown out to you, you don't know who threw it, right?

A: Huh-uh.

Q: And you didn't know where it came from, do you?

A: It came from out the door.

Q: It came from in that trailer; is that correct?

A: That's right.

Q: But there was other people present in that trailer, right?

A: Right.

(T. I. 79).

However, when defense counsel asked the CI whether it was possible that Ms. Liddell was not the person selling the drugs, the CI said "I'd run over there six, seven, eight times a day to buy dope from her every day for months." (T. I. 81).

After a brief re-direct by the State in which the Confidential Informant testified that he had previously paid Ms. Liddell for drugs that were delivered by someone else, the court then read a limiting instruction. The limiting instruction stated as follows:

The witness Dustin Purser, who just left the witness stand, has testified concerning prior drug transactions with the defendant. This testimony is not to be considered by you as proof of guilty [sic]. Rather, this testimony should only be considered by you as proof of the defendant's intent, plan and/or identity of the defendant.

(T. I. 87).

÷

i.

έ.

1.

İ.:

[]

Following the Confidential Informant's testimony, the judge permitted the State to recall Agent Hawkins to complete his testimony on the chain of custody of the crack cocaine and the container in which it was delivered, which the State sought to have admitted into evidence. (T. I. 87-88). Following this additional testimony, the court admitted the container, marked State's Exhibit B-1, into evidence over defense counsel's objection. (T. I. 88-89).

Ţ

÷

÷

1.

Ι.

4 1

i.

1 :

11

The State then called Gary Fernandez (hereinafter "Mr. Fernandez"), a forensic scientist with the Mississippi Crime Lab. (T. I. 89). Mr. Fernandez was accepted as an expert forensic scientist without objection. (T. I. 91-92). Fernandez testified that the substance that his lab received from Agent Hawkins tested positive as cocaine, and he also testified regarding the chain of evidence while the cocaine was at the crime lab. (T. I. 93-95). Following this testimony, the State moved for admission of the crack cocaine as State's Exhibit B-2. (T. I. 95). Defense counsel had no objection, so the crack was admitted. (T. I. 96). Finally, the prosecution had Mr. Fernandez identify State's Exhibit C as a certified copy of his report identifying the substance as crack cocaine. (T. I. 96, Exh. S-C, RE.___). After Mr. Fernandez identified the report, the State moved for its admission into evidence, and defense counsel had no objection, so the report was admitted. (T. I. 97).

Following a brief cross-examination of Mr. Fernandez by Defense counsel, the State rested. Outside the presence of the jury, defense counsel moved for a directed verdict. (T. I. 99). After the court "f[ound] that minimally speaking a prima facie case [had] been established[,]" the judge denied defense counsel's motion for directed verdict. (T. II. 100).

At this point, before the defense began its case-in-chief, there was a brief discussion regarding whether Ms. Liddell would testify. (T. II. 100). The judge asked Ms. Liddell whether she had discussed this issue with her attorney, and, after saying that she had, Ms. Liddell told the judge that she "decided to testify." (T. II. 101).

Now defense counsel began its case-in-chief with an opening statement. (T. II. 101).

-10-

Following the opening statement, defense counsel called Ms. Bogan as the defense's only witness. (T. II. 103). Ms. Bogan testified that she, and a number of other people, would often stay at the residence at 1002 Clark Cove. (T. II. 106). Next, defense counsel wanted to play the surveillance video for Ms. Bogan and the jury; however, when Ms. Bogan stated that she had seen the tape, defense counsel proceeded to question her about the contents of the video without playing it. (T. II. 107). Testifying about the contents of the tape from memory, Ms. Bogan stated that she did not throw any drugs nor see Ms. Liddell throw any drugs, and that she did not see any money exchanged. (T. II. 107-08). In addition, Ms. Bogan testified that she had never seen anybody sell drugs to the Confidential Informant at 1002 Clark Cove. (T. II. 109). Finally, Ms. Bogan testified on direct that she had never been a runner. (T. II. 111).

į 1

í.

i .

11

On cross-examination, the State impeached Ms. Bogan's testimony by pointing out that Ms. Bogan was currently in jail for selling drugs from that address. In fact, the prosecution pointed out that, based on Ms. Bogan's own explanation of the facts leading to Ms. Bogan's imprisonment, that she was actually in jail for being a "runner" in a drug transaction. (T. II. 112). Although defense counsel objected to the relevancy of questions concerning Ms. Bogan's unrelated drug charges, the judge overruled the objection, and the testimony was allowed. (T. II. 112-13).

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