# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**BRENDA LIDDELL** 

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

NO. 2008-KA-0747

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

# BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

# APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: JOHN R. HENRY

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

#

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

It may be that the prosecutor did not say the magic word "identity" in her first comments on the subject. But this should not be of any significance in view of the fact that identity is certainly one of the exceptions to the general rule barring prior bad act evidence. A *modus* operandi may be established under Rule 404(b). Ford v. State, 555 So.2d 691 (Miss. 1989).

In *Carter v. State*, 953 So.2d 224 (Miss. 2007), the prosecutor in that case urged admission of 404(b) evidence on the basis that it went to establish intent. The trial court in that case allowed the evidence because it went to prove motive. The appellant there asserted that it was error to allow the evidence to establish motive, where the State never argued motive, and further asserted error because the trial court there did not perform an M.R.E. 403 analysis with respect to motive. The Supreme Court found that to the extent this was error, it was harmless error at most. The evidence was properly admissible and the jury was properly instructed. This was sufficient. *Carter*, at 231 - 233. The same result should obtain here.

The Appellant, perhaps anticipating the foregoing argument, says that the prior sale evidence was not admissible to prove identity because the State did not invoke that exception

initially, and because there were "multiple other means of establishing identity." (Brief for the Appellant, at 23 - 24).

As *Carter* shows, at least by analogy, the simple fact that identity was not initially invoked is no basis to find error on the part of the trial court in admitting the evidence for that purpose. As to whether there was other evidence to establish identity, it is true that the informant identified the Appellant and that there were audio and video tapes. On the other hand, given the number of people who were in the immediate area of the sale, the fact that Bogan's testimony tended to exclude the Appellant as the seller, and that it was part of the defense strategy to attempt to throw doubt on the issue of the Appellant's identity of the seller, this was not a case in which it may be said that the evidence was not needed, or was introduced to show that the Appellant was a person of poor character. The facts here are much different from those in *Darby v. State*, 538 So.2d 1168 (Miss. 1989), cited by the Appellant. Unlike *Darby*, use of the prior sales evidence did not act so as to foreclose the Appellant's defense. Here, the method employed by the Appellant in selling drugs was highly probative on her identity as the seller.

The Appellant seems to think that the State was required to demonstrate the existence of a conspiracy or demonstrate that the prior sale was a part of a continuing transaction. (Brief for the Appellant, at 19 - 22). While there was evidence to show that the Appellant was involved with Bogan, at least, in a conspiracy to sell cocaine, there is no reason to consider the propriety of an admission of this testimony for that purpose. The Appellant was not indicted for conspiracy. (R. Vol. 1, pg. 5). She was not on trial for conspiracy. The prior sale evidence was admissible to show the Appellant's identity; this was sufficient to permit it introduction. Identity of the seller was clearly a contested issue. Nor was it or is it necessary to consider whether the evidence was admissible under a theory of that it was part of a continuing transaction. These

were not the theories of the prosecutor. *Modus operandi* with respect to how the Appellant conducted her sales was. The mere fact that the prosecutor first mentioned "common plan" did not require all of this, after it became apparent that she was referring only to the method by which the Appellant made her drug sales. The mere fact that the prosecutor used the phrase "common plan, where she was clearly referring to a *modus operandi*, did not require the State to lay out a conspiracy or a continuing transaction in order to have the prior sale admitted. The State was not proceeding under a conspiracy or continuing transaction theory of admissibility. There is no need to discuss admissibility with respect to them.

Continuing on with its argument, the appeals clinic then says that the State failed to provide any information on the recency of the prior conviction. (Brief for the Appellant, at 21). The Circuit Court cause number in the case at bar was 2007-0145; the prior sale sought to be used by the State was in cause number 2007-0144. (R. Vol. 2, pg. 10; Vol. 1, pg. 5). Thus, it seems that the time of the prior sale was quite close to the time of the sale in the case at bar. While the trial court did not make a specific finding as to remoteness, there is no indication in this record that the prior sale was "too remote." Certainly the Appellant did not trouble herself to explain why it might have been. Nor did the Appellant press for a specific ruling on this claim.

As for the claim that the informant was biased because the Appellant sold him "bad dope" (Brief for the Appellant, at 21 - 22), that was merely a matter concerning the weight and credibility of his testimony. It had no bearing on the admissibility of the 404(b) evidence.

The Appellant then complains about the invocation of the intent exception in Rule 404(b). (Brief for the Appellant, at 24 - 25). It is not necessary to consider whether the evidence demonstrated intent. It did go to identity, and that was an entirely sufficient basis upon which to admit the evidence. So seen, error, if any, in admitting it as evidence of intent is strictly

harmless. The addition of intent and plan in the limiting instruction was surplusage at worst. Since the evidence was properly admissible to establish identity, it was harmless error at most that "intent" and "plan" were included.<sup>1</sup>

Having said all of this, we note that it was actually the Appellant who first introduced the subject of her prior involvement in dealing in drugs during cross -examination of the narcotics agent once trial began. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 39; 46 - 47). There was no need for the Appellant to do so. By doing so, the Appellant opened the door to the subject. *Lewis v. State*, 445 So.2d 1387 (Miss. 1984).

#### M.R.E. 403

The Appellant then complains of the trial court's analysis under M.R.E. 403. In passing, she asserts that the State represented to the trial court that it intended to use the prior sale as evidence of the Appellant's guilt for the felony involved in this case.

The Appellant makes much of the prosecutor's response to the trial court's question as to whether the "common plan" (by which was meant the *modus operandi* utilized by the Appellant in selling drugs) could be considered by the jury as evidence of guilt. The prosecutor's response was "Not evidence of guilt, Your Honor. But to show that, well, yeah, that's what, yes. That that was part—". At that point, the trial court interrupted the prosecutor and asked her a question about a limiting instruction. The prosecutor responded, "Yes, sir, I can, I mean, its going to be very similar to the language in the rules. That they can put that evidence admissible for such and such purpose, but that they're not to consider that for other reasons. (R. Vol. 2, pg. 13).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The prosecutor at trial did not assert the knowledge exception under 404(b) as a basis for admitting this evidence. But since the Appellant claims here that the State did not prove that she knew she was selling cocaine (Brief for the Appellant at 43 - 44), these furtive acts of hers would have been evidence of such knowledge, and admissible under 404(b).

This was not the clearest expression of a position one might find in a transcript of a record, but we think the prosecutor's meaning can be gleaned from what she said. Her meaning was that the evidence of *modus operandi* could be used by the jury in considering the issue of whether the Appellant was the seller. On the other hand, such evidence could not be used by the jury for any other issue in the case, and certainly not for the purpose of finding guilt in the case at bar because the Appellant might have sold drugs on another occasion.

We find nothing amiss in this. Under Rule 404(b), evidence admitted under it may be used for the substantive purposes stated in the rule. The prosecutor was correct in saying that evidence of the Appellant's *modus operandi* with respect to sale of drugs was substantive evidence of her identity as the seller in the case at bar. That the prosecutor did not express herself with the sort of precision one would expect from one who had the luxury of time to fully fit out his position hardly means that her position was incorrect. This prosecutor, after all, was in the middle of trial, not in a serene library of a school of law. The prosecutor most certainly was not asserting that the evidence of another sale could be used by the jury to decide that the Appellant was guilty here for the simple reason that she might have sold drugs before.

Here, the appeals clinic appears to assert that evidence admitted under Rule 404(b) may only be used as "credibility impeachment material." (Brief for the Appellant, at 27). If indeed the Appellant believes this, the Appellant is in error. By the terms of the rule itself, evidence admitted under 404(b) is admissible to substantively prove one or more of the items set out in the rule. Evidence admitted under Rule 404(b) is admitted for distinctly different purposes than evidence admitted under M.R.E. 608 or 609.

As to the Rule 403 issue, the defense asserted that the proposed evidence would be unduly prejudicial because it might inform the jury that the Appellant had sold drugs before, and

might even have been convicted of having done so. The Appellant also contended that there was no plan or scheme involved. (R. Vol. 2, pg. 14).

To this, the prosecution responded that it had no intention of proving a conviction. (R. Vol. 2, pg. 15). As for the probative value of the evidence, the State described the method by which the Appellant sold drugs. It proposed to show that the way the drug were sold in the case at bar was consistent with way they were sold on another occasion. This was to go to prove identity. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 17 - 18).

Upon hearing these arguments, the court found that the probative value of the evidence outweighed the prejudicial value, and ruled that the evidence would be admitted and a limiting instruction given. (R. Vol. 2, pg. 18).

The trial court did enter upon an analysis as to why the proof of *modus operandi*, and thus of identity, was more probative than prejudicial. The Appellant's claim that it was "prejudicial" was an off-the-shelf argument. He pointed to nothing to give color to the claim that the evidence was unduly prejudicial. On the other hand, the evidence was certainly probative on the issue of identity, especially given the defense raised and given the fact that there were a number of people in the immediate area when the sale occurred.

There is nothing to demonstrate that the trial court's resolution of the issue under Rule 403 was "patently prejudicial." That being so, this Court, given the deferential standard on review attached to rulings under Rule 403, should not disturb the trial court's resolution of the issue. *Jones v. State*, 920 So.2d 465, 467 (Miss. 2006).

# The limiting instruction

The Appellant next complains of the limiting instruction. However, the points she raises here were not raised in the trial court. Her objection to the instruction was on the same grounds

as her objection to the prior sale evidence. That ground was that the evidence, and thus the instruction, was unduly prejudicial. She may not expand upon those grounds here. *Swington v. State*, 742 So.2d 1106 (Miss. 1999); *Russell v. State*, 607 So.2d 1107 (Miss. 1992). Assuming for argument that the complaints raised here are properly before the Court, there is no merit in them.

The Appellant first says that the instruction allowed the jury to consider the evidence for an improper purpose. It takes awhile, reading the appeals clinic brief, to discover why it thinks the instruction permitted the jury to utilize the evidence for an improper purpose, but one reason alleged seems to be a renewal of the claim that the evidence was improperly admitted. It was not, as we have said above.

Another reason, according to the appeals clinic, is that the instruction was overly broad in that it contained 404(b) purposes which were not alleged by the prosecution. Yet, while the defense did dispute whether the evidence proposed to be admitted by the State demonstrated a plan, there was, in contrast, no objection that the instruction was over broad at trial. In absence of an objection on this ground, it is not error to grant such an instruction. *Scruggs v. State*, 756 So.2d 817, 821 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000). Moreover, the Mississippi Supreme Court has approved a limiting instruction which contained each of the purposes set out in Rule 404(b), even though only three of those purposes was argued by the State. *Swington, supra*. Here, two purposes other than identity were stated. In view of the fact that the Appellant did not object to the inclusion of those other two, and in view of the fact that the courts have not found error when all of the purposes specifically stated in Rule 404(b) have been included in an instruction even though not all were urged as grounds for admission of 404(b) evidence, there was no error in the instruction in the case at bar.

But, like a late night Ginsu knife television commercial, the appeals clinic has more to offer! The next point by the appeals clinic in this never - ending brief filed by it is its entirely speculative claim that the instruction used the prior sales evidence for the very purpose forbidden by the instruction. In support of this claim, the appeals clinic notes that it took the jury a very short period of time – four minutes, it is said – to return a verdict of guilty.

Citing *Weeks v. Angelone*, 528 U.S. 225 (2000), the appeals clinic thinks that this Court may consider the length of time it took the jury to reach a verdict in while in the process of speculating why the jury took the time it took to reach its verdict. That decision concerns the propriety of an instruction in a death penalty case given to the jury in response to question by it. The federal supreme court stated, in passing, that a number of "empirical" factors showed that the jury followed the instructions given it, one of which being the fact that it returned a verdict two hours after the instruction was given. However, the time to reach a verdict was but one factor, and not said to have been any more important than the others. Furthermore, *Weeks* was a death penalty case, one involving instructions and a body of law unrelated to the instant case. The facts there are not even weakly similar to those here.

There is no set amount of time a jury should use before reaching a verdict. It may well have been here, as it was in *Smith v. State*, 569 So.2d 1203 (Miss. 1990), a case in which the jury deliberated for only three minutes, that the Appellant's guilt was quite clear to each juror by the time summation concluded, and that all that was needful was a quick discussion among them. While the appeals clinic has managed, somehow, to write a forty-seven page brief on a simple, garden variety sale of cocaine case, the fact remains that the case at bar was not complicated, factually or legally, and the Appellant's guilt was overwhelmingly established.

The appeals clinic offers nothing but their own supposition that the jury used the prior

sales evidence as evidence of the Appellant's guilt for the sale at bar. Yet, even if the prior sales evidence had never been admitted, the State's evidence overwhelmingly showed the Appellant's guilt. If there is to be speculation as to what caused the verdict, the more likely theory is that the Appellant was clearly and completely shown to be guilty of the felony. Quite contrary to the appeals clinic's opinion of the evidence of the Appellant's guilt, her guilt was overwhelmingly proven by the State.

Finally, even if this Court were to conclude that there was error in the admission of this evidence, any such error would be harmless. Holding aside the prior sale evidence, the verdict of guilty was inevitable, given the strength of the State's case. That being so, any error in the admission of this evidence was harmless. *Caldwell v. State*, 6 So.3rd 1076 (Miss. 2009). We will address the appeals clinic's arguments concerning that evidence further on, but we will note that the informant's testimony was fully corroborated by the video and audio tapes. Likewise the Bureau of Narcotics agent's testimony fully corroborated the informant. The Appellant was guilty beyond doubt.

The First Assignment of Error is without merit.

# 2. THAT THE APPELLANT WAS NOT DENIED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL

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